
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

 
PATRICK E. WALKER and LISA 
HENSHAW, individually and on behalf of 
all others similarly situated, 
 
    Plaintiffs, 
 
  v. 
 
IHEART COMMUNICATIONS, INC., THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF IHEART 
COMMUNICATIONS, INC., THE 
RETIREMENT BENEFITS COMMITTEE, 
and JOHN DOES 1-30. 
 
    Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
 
 
     CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 
     Case No.:   
 
        
 
      

 
COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION 

 
 Plaintiffs, Patrick E. Walker and Lisa Henshaw (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their 

attorneys, on behalf of the iHeart Media, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the “Plan”),1 themselves and all others 

similarly situated, state and allege as follows:  

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a class action brought pursuant to §§ 409 and 502 of the Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1109 and 1132, against the 

Plan’s fiduciaries, which include iHeart Communications, Inc., (“iHeart” or “Company”), the 

Board of Directors of iHeart Communications, Inc., (“Board”) and its members during the Class 

                                                 
1 The Plan is a legal entity that can sue and be sued.  ERISA § 502(d)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(d)(1).  
However, in a breach of fiduciary duty action such as this, the Plan is not a party.  Rather, pursuant 
to ERISA § 409, and the law interpreting it, the relief requested in this action is for the benefit of 
the Plan and its participants. For a period of time in 2014, the Plan was known as the Clear Channel 
Communications, Inc. 401(k) Saving Plan until its name was changed to the iHeart Media, Inc. 
401(k) Plan in October of 2014. Both the Clear Channel Communications, Inc. 401(k) Saving Plan 
and the iHeart Media, Inc. 401(k) Plan will be referred to collectively herein as the “Plan.” 
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Period2, and the Retirement Benefits Committee and its members (“Committee”) during the Class 

Period for breaches of their fiduciary duties. 

2. To safeguard Plan participants and beneficiaries, ERISA imposes strict fiduciary 

duties of loyalty and prudence upon employers and other plan fiduciaries.  Fiduciaries must act 

“solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries,” 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(A), with the 

“care, skill, prudence, and diligence” that would be expected in managing a plan of similar scope.  

29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B). These twin fiduciary duties are “the highest known to the law.” Main 

v. American Airlines Inc., 248 F.Supp.3d 786 at 792 (N.D. Tex. 2017). 

3. Under 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1), a plan fiduciary must give substantial consideration 

to the cost of investment options.  “Wasting beneficiaries’ money is imprudent.  In devising and 

implementing strategies for the investment and management of trust assets, trustees are obligated 

to minimize costs.”  Uniform Prudent Investor Act (the “UPIA”), § 7.   

4. “The Restatement … instructs that ‘cost-conscious management is fundamental to 

prudence in the investment function,’ and should be applied ‘not only in making investments but 

also in monitoring and reviewing investments.’”  Tibble v. Edison Int’l, 843 F.3d 1187, 1197-98 

(9th Cir. 2016) (en banc) (quoting Restatement (Third) of Trusts, § 90, cmt. b) (“Tibble II”).3   

5. Additional fees of only 0.18% or 0.4% can have a large effect on a participant’s 

investment results over time because “[b]eneficiaries subject to higher fees … lose not only money 

spent on higher fees, but also lost investment opportunity; that is, the money that the portion of 

                                                 
2 The Class Period is defined as August 19, 2014 through the date of Judgment. 
3 See also U.S. Dep’t of Labor, A Look at 401(k) Plan Fees, (Aug. 2013), at 2, available at 
https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ebsa/about-ebsa/our-activities/resource- 
center/publications/a-look-at-401k-plan-fees.pdf (last visited February 21, 2020) (“You should be 
aware that your employer also has a specific obligation to consider the fees and expenses paid by 
your plan.”).   
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their investment spent on unnecessary fees would have earned over time.”  Tibble II, 843 F.3d at 

1198 (“It is beyond dispute that the higher the fees charged to a beneficiary, the more the 

beneficiary’s investment shrinks.”).   

6. Most participants in 401(k) plans expect that their 401(k) accounts will be their 

principal source of income after retirement.  Even though 401(k) accounts are fully funded at all 

times, that does not prevent plan participants from losing money on poor investment choices by 

plan sponsors and fiduciaries, whether due to poor performance, high fees or both.  

7. The Department of Labor has explicitly stated that employers are held to a “high 

standard of care and diligence” and must, among other duties, both “establish a prudent process 

for selecting investment options and service providers” and “monitor investment options and 

service providers once selected to see that they continue to be appropriate choices.”  See, “A Look 

at 401(k) Plan Fees,” supra, at n.3; see also Tibble v. Edison Int’l, 135 S. Ct. 1823, 1823 (2015) 

(Tibble I) (reaffirming the ongoing fiduciary duty to monitor a plan’s investment options). 

8. The duty to evaluate and monitor fees and investment costs includes fees paid 

directly by plan participants to investment providers, usually in the form of an expense ratio or a 

percentage of assets under management within a particular investment.  See Investment Company 

Institute (“ICI”), The Economics of Providing 401(k) Plans: Services, Fees, and Expenses (July 

2016), at 4.  “Any costs not paid by the employer, which may include administrative, investment, 

legal, and compliance costs, effectively are paid by plan participants.”  Id., at 5.   

9. Prudent and impartial plan sponsors thus should be monitoring both the 

performance and cost of the investments selected for their 401(k) plans, as well as investigating 

alternatives in the marketplace to ensure that well-performing, low cost investment options are 

being made available to plan participants.  
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10. At all times during the Class Period (August 19, 2014 through the date of judgment) 

the Plan had at least $890 million dollars in assets under management.  At the end of 2017 and 

2018, the Plan had over $1.1 billion dollars and $1 billion dollars, respectively, in assets under 

management that were/are entrusted to the care of the Plan’s fiduciaries.  The Plan’s assets under 

management qualifies it as a jumbo plan in the defined contribution plan marketplace, and among 

the largest plans in the United States.  As a jumbo plan, the Plan had substantial bargaining power 

regarding the fees and expenses that were charged against participants’ investments.  Defendants, 

however, did not try to reduce the Plan’s expenses or exercise appropriate judgment to scrutinize 

each investment option that was offered in the Plan to ensure it was prudent.   

11. Plaintiffs allege that during the putative Class Period Defendants, as “fiduciaries” 

of the Plan, as that term is defined under ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), breached 

the duties they owed to the Plan, to Plaintiffs, and to the other participants of the Plan by, inter 

alia, (1) failing to objectively and adequately review the Plan’s investment portfolio with due care 

to ensure that each investment option was prudent, in terms of cost; and (2) maintaining certain 

funds in the Plan despite the availability of identical or similar investment options with lower costs 

and/or better performance histories.   

12. In many instances, Defendants failed to utilize the lowest cost share class for many 

of the mutual funds within the Plan, and failed to consider certain collective trusts available during 

the Class Period as alternatives to the mutual funds in the Plan, despite their lower fees and 

materially similar investment objectives.   

13. Defendants’ mismanagement of the Plan, to the detriment of participants and 

beneficiaries, constitutes a breach of the fiduciary duties of prudence and loyalty, in violation of 

29 U.S.C. § 1104.  Their actions were contrary to actions of a reasonable fiduciary and cost the 

Plan and its participants millions of dollars. 
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14. Based on this conduct, Plaintiffs assert claims against Defendants for breach of the 

fiduciary duties of loyalty and prudence (Count One) and failure to monitor fiduciaries (Count 

Two). 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

15. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 because it is a civil action arising under the laws of the United States, and pursuant to 29 

U.S.C. § 1332(e)(1), which provides for federal jurisdiction of actions brought under Title I of 

ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq.  

16. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they transact business 

in this District, reside in this District, and/or have significant contacts with this District, and 

because ERISA provides for nationwide service of process. 

17. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to ERISA § 502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1132(e)(2), because some or all of the violations of ERISA occurred in this District and 

Defendants reside and may be found in this District.  Venue is also proper in this District pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because Defendants do business in this District and a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to the claims asserted herein occurred within this District. 

III. PARTIES 

Plaintiffs 

18.  Plaintiff, Patrick E. Walker (“Walker”), resides in Phoenix, Arizona.  During his 

employment, Plaintiff Walker participated in the Plan investing in the options offered by the Plan 

and which are the subject of this lawsuit. 

19. Plaintiff, Lisa Henshaw (“Henshaw”), resides in San Antonio, Texas.  During her 

employment, Plaintiff Henshaw participated in the Plan investing in the options offered by the 

Plan and which are the subject of this lawsuit. 
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